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Highlights

	1912
	St. Christopher House opened at 67 Bellevue Place (later called Wales Avenue)

	1913
	Well Baby Clinic established

	1913
	Property on Lake Scugog purchased for camp

	1914
	White Shield Club held first meeting

	1915
	Toronto Playground Association & House began programming at Ryerson School

	1918
	St. Christopher House Board of Management formed

	1919
	Sir James Woods Men’s Club began meeting

	1919
	New gym built by Sir James Woods as memorial to son killed in war

	1920
	Sir James donated property to newly formed group of Trustees

	1921
	St. Christopher House Library became first branch of Public Children’s Library

	1929
	First Parent Education Class organized

	1930
	Music School opened

	1931
	First annual Alumni Association reunion held at the House

	1933
	Social Service work of College Street Church and St. Christopher House united under one board

	1936
	St. Christopher House Women’s Auxiliary formed

	1939
	House received first grant from Federation for Community Service (later called United Way)

	1940
	Music School initiated voice instruction and eurhythmics

	1941
	Death of Sir James Woods

	1944
	Board of Education provided hot lunches at House for children of working mothers

	1945
	Program for Japanese-Canadian boys initiated at House

	1947
	Afternoon Junior Kindergarten started by Nursery School

	1950
	Day Camp in Rosedale Ravine replaced Vacation Bible School

	1953
	House received first Civic Grant (used to hire a multi-lingual worker)

	1954
	Autumn Club, the House’s first senior’s program, organized

	1955
	Funtime Day Camp for five to seven year olds set up

	1956
	Decentralization of programming began with a children’s program on Carr Street

	1957
	White Shield Club disbanded after forty-three years

	1959
	Children’s Library moved out of St. Christopher House

	1960
	Residence closed

	1960
	United Church reversed decision to discontinue funding

	1961
	Community Development Worker, first in Toronto, hired by House

	1963
	St. Christopher House incorporated as an agency separate from the United Church

	1963
	First Beautify Our Neighbourhood Campaign held

	1964
	Future Plans Committee established to study options for the House

	1965
	Meals on Wheels Program, Toronto’s first, begun by House

	1965
	Steel Drum band played at Royal York Hotel

	1968
	Alexandra Park Housing Development opened

	1971
	Wales Avenue property sold to Toronto Western Hospital

	1971
	Women’s Auxiliary disbanded

	1971
	Older Adults Program designated as an Elderly Persons Centre

	1972
	Sixtieth Anniversary Party and Reunion held at House

	1973
	Move from 67 Wales Avenue to new building at 84 Augusta Avenue

	1974
	Portuguese West of Bathurst Project (PISEM) initiated

	1978
	Alexandra Park Community Centre opened

	1978
	Nursery Program at Kensington School closed

	1979
	New drama program for children initiated

	1979
	Scadding Court Community Centre completed

	1980
	Fiftieth anniversary of Music School

	1980
	Home Help Program initiated

	1981
	Sistering Program for women began

	1981
	Staff unionized with the Canadian Union of Public Employees

	1981
	Renovations of the older Adult Centre at 761 Queen Street West completed

	1982
	Decision made to relocate St. Christopher House west of Bathurst Street

	1983
	Domestic Violence Program for immigrant women began

	1983
	Metro Youth Job Crops initiated to assist employment-disadvantaged youth

	1984
	Music School started Introduction to Music program for young children

	1984
	MicroCHIP youth employment program established

	1985
	Sale of building at 84 Augusta Avenue, and purchase of house at 53 Argyle Street

	1985
	Administration offices moved to renovated facilities at 761 Queen Street West.


Historical material on St. Christopher House is available to the public at the City of Toronto Archives, located in Toronto City Hall.
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Foreward


The Settlement House movement deserves an honoured place in the history of social welfare and social work.  Those of us who are an active part of the movement, as well as all the neighbours and friends whom St. Christopher House has touched at some time in their wanderings, will be enlightened, enriched and often entertained through this historical account of the House.  We are provided with both the sweep of history and the fascination of detail; the author and the Toronto Association of Neighbourhood Services are to be commended for the appreciation of the Settlement movement and of the place of St. Christopher House within it.


Reading this history has reminded me of my many personal contacts with St. Christopher House staff.  One was Ethel Dodds Parker, whose later years at the farm were shared with many friends and where reminiscences of her years at St. Christopher House often entered the conversation.  Others were Marion Yeigh and Beryl Hollett, beloved social workers and colleagues at the Children’s Aid Society of Toronto who brought grace and strength of character to St. Christopher House in its early days.  Through his family, I also feel I knew Charles W. Gordon (better known by his pen-name, Ralph Conor).  I will always remember my own brief stay as a student in the St. Christopher House residence during a summer in the early fifties.


Although the House has grown both in size and complexity, and is very much a part of the modern world, the spirit of the Settlement endures as we work in partnership with the community toward a better life for us all.

January, 1986

Elspeth A. Latimer




Board Member of St. Christopher House

BACKGROUND: THE PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH IN CANADA

St. Christopher House opened its doors in 1912, buts its origins were much earlier, dating back to the reform movement within the Presbyterian Church in Canada in the late 1800’s and early 1900’s.  Leaders of this movement – men like James A. MacDonald, John G. Shearer, George C. Pidgeon, Thomas B. Kilpatrick, Robert A. Falconer and Charles W. Gordon – used their positions as academics, clerics, lobbyists and writers to promote their vision for a moral and civilized nation guided by Christian influences and standards.  They saw Canada as a country where the best of the Old and New Worlds: could be continued and where the British sense of fair play and respect for legitimate authority, and such American features as democracy, enterprise, initiative and ability to assimilate foreigners might exist together.1
The reformers approach to the problems of urban Canada was neither radical nor revolutionary.  They advocated a modern reformism that sought to promote social harmony through moral persuasion, education and legislation.2
Reformers posed little threat to the established order, as they shared with business leaders the same goals of national prosperity, efficiency and stability.  Reforms were not aimed at substantial change in social or economic systems, but at a more harmonious running of the assumption of the Presbyterian  reform movement was the superiority of Anglo-Saxon Protestant morality and culture.3 


“The modern Church,” wrote Kilpatrick, “must betake herself to city evangelism with an intensity and skill which have scarcely yet been applied to a problem.4  More wealthy congregations were asked to pool resources to support the work of impoverished churches, and community centers were added to many Presbyterian churches.  Reformers directed much of their work at the family, especially in terms of training and discipline.  Sunday schools and penny savings banks were initiated to influence children growing up in the inner city, and sewing classes and mothers meetings were held for the purpose of strengthening family life.5  It was also their belief that adequate religious and moral training would protect those institutions threatened by poverty and vice.


By the early 1900’s, there was growing awareness among churchmen that personal shortcomings were not wholly to blame for poverty and squalor, and that social as well as individual reform was necessary to ensure the safety and progress of Canadian life.6  More emphasis was placed on promoting legislation to protect the innocent, and better law enforcement backed by aggressive public sentiment was urged.  To this end, John G. Shearer was appointed full-time secretary of the Presbyterian Church’s Board of Moral and Social Reform, which launched an extensive educational campaign to defend the Lord’s Day, Purity in Politics and Total Abstinence, and to promote compulsory school attendance up to age fourteen in every province.  It also set about “instituting rescue work among fallen girls and women with a  view of preventing others from falling into a life of looseness”,7 and established Redemptive Home for girls and women across the country.  As secretary of the Lord’s Day Alliance in Toronto, Shearer co-ordinated a large number of interest groups to win passage of the Dominion Lord’s Day Act.  Aimed at restricting Sunday trade, labour and recreation, the Act became law in 1907.  The following year Shearer formed the Moral and Social Reform Council of Canada, a coalition of church, labour and farm organizations active in promoting reforms.  Support for these efforts came from lay persons and committees, and often from members and supporters of the Liberal Party.


However, widespread urbanization and industrialization, the growing assertiveness of the Roman Catholic Church, and increasing religious indifference brought the visions and assumptions of the Presbyterians under severe pressure.  With only six percent of the national population belonging to the Presbyterian Church, the reformers were forced to come to the distressing realization that they were a small minority in a country whose life and institutions they hoped to shape.8

In 1911, the Board of Moral and Social Reform released a report on a two-year study of Canadian cities.  It concluded that the flood of European immigration to provide Canada with cheap labour would lead to anarchy, vice and crime unless the problems of the city were solved.9  Members of the Board knew about the settlement houses in Britain and the United States, as Canadian Presbyterian journals frequently published articles on their work.  In 1909, the Board began to consider the development of settlement work in Canada, and executive members visited settlements in Chicago, New York and Britain.  The Committee on Downtown Conditions and Work endorsed the concept, and in 1911 the General Assembly of the Presbyterian Church approved the plan to establish settlement houses in Montreal, Toronto and Vancouver.  Local churches would assume responsibility for the buildings and equipment, and the national Board would provide for the salaried staff.  St. Christopher House in Toronto was to be the “Mother House”, the base for training specialized workers.  It was named after the saint who symbolized a helping hand extended to the travelers.


It was hoped that the settlements would help to preserve the institutions of home, church and school, and that they would provide a platform from which the church could educate Canadians about the social problems of the day.  Settlement work was to be a new form of evangelism.  The Board announced:

We are going into this not merely inspired by a thin, sentimental humanism, but because we are Christian people who seek the advancement of Christ’s Kingdom and the saving of men’s lives… What is contemplated, therefore, is a Church Settlement, not only to carry on the ordinary activities of settlement, but also a positive definite aggressive evangelistic propaganda.  The work must all be correlated under one leadership and work to one great aim and purpose – to Christianize.10
ST. CHRISTOPHER HOUSE: THE FIRST TEN YEARS


Once the General Assembly approved the establishment of settlement houses Shearer moved quickly to implement the plan in Toronto.  He approached James S. Woods, a Presbyterian who was President of Gordon-McKay, a Toronto enthusiastic about having his church start such a community project, and he began investing time, money and influence in the development of St. Christopher House.  At Shearer’s request, the Presbyterian Church hired Sara Libby Carson to be the organizer and general supervisor of the Canadian settlement houses


An American Quaker, Carson had founded Christadora House in New York City and Evangelia, Toronto’s first settlement house.  Shearer, Woods and Carson walked around downtown Toronto neighbourhoods in search of a suitable location for new settlement.  They came upon the vacant Ryerson House, built by Casimir Gzowski, on Bellevue Place (later called Wales Avenue) at Leonard Street.  Though old, it was a large, well-built house with twelve rooms, located in the heart of a multi-ethnic working class district which also had Toronto’s highest number of juvenile delinquents.  When Carson, Shearer and Woods looked up the street and counted one hundred children playing on Leonard Street and Bellevue Place alone, they knew that this was an ideal place for the settlement.  Woods provided the money to purchase the house and while renovations were being done, Carson walked around the neighbourhood getting to know the children.  When the doors finally opened on June 15, 1912, children swarmed into the building.

The Programs


Programs at St. Christopher House reflected the dual aims of the settlement: to Christianize and to Canadianize.  The staff operated under the assumption that the traditional influence of family and school was weakened by the social conditions of the slums, so programs were designed to provide a good education in an ethical and spiritual environment modeled after the Christian home, especially the industrious middle class Anglo-Saxon family.  St. Christopher House served two very different groups of people.  In the neighbourhood, it sought to educate both poor and the immigrant population about “the threat posed to social stability by these conditions and the civic responsibility shared by all to Canadianize and Christianize the people.12
The Clubs

When at the conclusion of the business section of the club eight year old Mary rises in her place and says ‘Madame President, I make a motion that the meeting go on a journey … she has learned in a simple way to stand on her own feet and take responsibility.13
Self-governing clubs with an emphasis on democratic procedures formed the basis of activity at the new House as the did in most North American settlements.  By 1914, there were fourteen clubs, with names such as the Merry Maidens, Jolly Chums, Royal Young Canadians, Happy Hearts and Patriots’ Athletic Club.  Many of these same names were used by clubs at other Toronto and American settlements, an indication of the close ties between Houses.  The White Shield Club, with a membership primarily of British immigrant women, was so popular when it was formed in 1914 that it soon had to be divided into two groups.  It provided a break from the drudgery and monotony of raising large families in the city core.  Activities were varied, including such things as a “most exciting Millinery Contest … Mrs. Bosley carried off first prize with a truly marvelous creation of mauve and white tissue paper.14  There was usually a household sciences teacher on staff, who taught the women food shopping and preparation and budgeting.  Of never ending popularity was the “make-over class”.  “Father’s suits were cut down for Johnnie, and mother’s coats made a smart outfit for a little girl.”15  Girls were also taught sewing and cooking until domestic science became a part of the school curriculum.  In spite of their won financial troubles, members of the White Shield Club showed their concern for others by organizing many fundraising events.  Profits were donated to the House or to the T.B. Sanitorium in Gravenhurst.  At one point, the women saved for three years to endow a cot at the Hospital for Sick Children.


There was a Father’s Club from 1915-1917; it was revived in 1919 as the Sir James Woods Men’s Club.  The Head Worker suggested study groups in the style of the Toynbee Hall educational programs, but the men were not interested.  They did, however, welcome speakers in various “practical subjects”, and enjoyed billiards and their annual trip to Camp St. Christopher on Lake Scugog each Labour Day weekend.  In the 1920’s,  Savings Club was established as convenient means for members to save part of their earning each week.  The Sir James Woods Men’s Club developed strong loyalties to the House, and members were always willing to assist in House projects.  It remained exclusively an Anglo-Saxon club.


The clubs at St. Christopher House enabled children to gain experience and confidence in the exercise of democratic responsibility.

In each club, officers were elected frequently so that from the smallest children up they learned how to conduct meetings, plan entertainment and control themselves and others.  Meanwhile, they had no end of fun.  Their self-respect and initiative seemed to blossom.16
This learning did not go unnoticed in the community; and local teachers were impressed with the work being done at the settlement.

The teachers in the public school say “we can tell the boys and girls who come to the Settlement; they are better scholars … The children at school talk of their clubs, play the games and sing their club songs, and we simply had to come and see the place that is of such great interest to them.”17
A gang of older boys, “whose chief sport was breaking the law” came to the House shortly after it opened.  There followed many “battles of wit and skill” with Head Worker Helen Hart, “who liked them but was firm as steel” with them.18  The firmness paid off.  In 1917, Ethel Dodds, the new Head worker, was concerned that all the boys around the House were “so wholesome that it made (her) uneasy”.  She wondered why the tougher boys were not coming to the House.  Parker took her concern to the Chief Probation Officer of the Juvenile Court, who replied: “Have you no faith in your own work? Where there is a good settlement in a district there aren’t bad gangs.  There are individual cases, but each one has been referred to St. Christopher.”19

The clubs were not the only programs at the House.  There were classes in English, cooking, singing and dressmaking.  Bible study classes and Sunday School meetings were held for the children.  A Play School for young children began in 1912, and afternoon “House Parties” kept the children cool on hot summer afternoons.  Picnics, sports events, street car excursions and folk dancing held on the “lawn” of the House were all part of life at St. Christopher House.

One of Mrs. Parker’s experiments that proved a great success was community singing in the evenings.  It was a wonderful sight to see the playground in front of the House filled with people enjoying themselves singing hymns and old familiar songs.20
At Christmas, each child was given a toy, bought at a discount from Gordon-McKay’s, the company owned by James Woods.  For the boys, there were baseballs, table games or sleds.  Each girl was given a doll; the House purchased hundreds of them and sent them out to church women’s groups to be “dressed” before giving them out to the large Christmas parties held at the House.

The Library


By 1914, St. Christopher House had a library filled with books provided by local churches and by Sir James Woods, who personally added hundreds of titles to the collection.  The Head Librarian of the Children’s Library on St. George Street visited the House library in 1917 and arranged an indefinite loan of several dozen new books, a welcome addition to the many children who sat around the fireplace for story hour.  When the House was renovated shortly afterwards, the Public Library proposed that the House staff to help run it.  The Children’s Library also provided a librarian three times a week.  Following this precedent, similar branches of the Children’s Library were developed in other Toronto settlement houses.

The Toronto Playground Association


In 1910, the Toronto Playground Association was formed.  Its first years were spent in conducting playgrounds in public schools and in using speeches, publications and news articles to promote the extramural use of schools.  In 1914, the Association won the approval of the Toronto Board of Education to run a three year project in three downtown Toronto schools.  The Association could afford only one full-time worker for each school, so the settlements – Central Neighbourhood House, University Settlement and St. Christopher House – were invited to provide additional staff and volunteers to supervise programs at the schools two or three afternoons and evenings a week.  For the remainder of her work week, the Association worker was available to supervise the gym programs offered at the settlements.


Each house was responsible for selecting its Association worker.  University Settlement and St. Christopher House always hired graduates of the Sargent School of Physical Education in Boston, considered to be the best in the field.  St. Christopher House welcomed the opportunity to increase its programming by working with the Association.  In a June 1915 letter to Dr. Shearer, Head Worker Helen Hart recommended House participation in the project:

Properly planned, it would make possible a much greater neighbourhood work by the Settlement workers without sacrificing the quiet personal work within the settlement itself.  It can be used very effectively to create helpful public opinion in the neighbourhood.

Beginning in 1915, gym classes for girls and women, folk-dancing clubs, games, boys athletics and chorus were held at Ryerson School, and in 1917 the girls in the program staged an elaborate Spring Festival of music and dance.  The Toronto Playground Association’s sponsorship of these programs lasted until 1919.  This co-operation between schools and settlements marked the beginning of community use of public schools for social and recreational activities.

Camp St. Christopher

Such a flood of recollections come as I think of those camp days – recollections of tents being tidied for inspection, of games, treasure hunts, rowboat rides, peanuts in the barn and long walks to Nestleton … and back by train; of picnics, complete with Mr. Wes Campbell’s hayrack, and graham wafers spread with jam; of swimming, marshmallow roasts, singsongs and stories by the Old Mill fire.21
In 1913, the Presbyterian Church purchased a farm with frontage on Lake Scugog. The CPR added a new station to its route to accommodate the camp; supplies could be carried by wheelbarrow from the stop to the camp buildings.  Tents with wooden floors housed the fifty children and mothers who came each year for a two week stay at the camp. The old farmhouse was used for the kitchen, meeting space and staff accommodation.  Rainy days were spent in an old mill on the property, and the campers hiked over area farms, and swam and boated in the shallow waters of the lake.  The camp provided a tremendous change from the crowded, unsanitary and noisy conditions of downtown Toronto.  House members cherished time “in the country where you sleep in a tent and pick flowers and berried and everybody has a little white bed to sleep in”.22
Health Services

So the ‘calls’ are visits, and the ‘cases’ are our friends and neighbours; and the nurse’s work includes all sorts of things that make for cleanliness and health, as well as the fight between life and death.23
When St. Christopher House opened in 1912, Toronto had no pasteurized milk and no free medical or nursing services.  The House hired a graduate nurse.  In 1913, she set up one of the city’s first Well Baby Clinics, with a private doctor in attendance, and arranged for St. Christopher House to be a depot for pasteurized milk and baby formula made up at the Hospital for Sick Children.  Each evening as many as thirty mothers came to the House for their daily milk supply.  The nurse also visited the sick in the neighbourhood, providing services later offered by the Victoria Order of Nurses and the Department of Public Health.  Dr. Charles Hastings, a Presbyterian church elder, was Toronto’s Medical Officer of Health during this period.  He organized the pasteurization of milk for the city, and soon afterwards established a district nursing service.  A staff doctor was assigned to the Well Baby Clinic at the House, and the Department nurse, Miss Patterson, made St. Christopher House the base for her work in the neighbourhood.

Her devotion to her families, the district and to the House was a high spot of its earlier years.  The Nursing Division more than once tried to move her to another district.  But it could not brook the uproar from the mothers and settlement and she remained in our district.24
In 1918, at the height of the influenza epidemic in Toronto, regular programs at St. Christopher House were suspended for two months when all effort went into relieving the suffering of local residents.  Volunteer nurses, medical students and members of clubs and local churches helped St. Christopher House in the operation of a medical and food supply depot and in the provision of service to over 350 neighbours in their own homes.25  Staff members used the stoves in the House to  personally prepare meals for families affected by the epidemic.

The House Expands


By 1920, there were 871 families and over fifteen hundred individuals involved at St. Christopher House – in the seventeen weekly clubs, eleven classes, seven Sunday Services and the two clinics.  Another 352 members attended camp that year.  Word of mouth was the only advertising needed.

It has neither sign nor name upon it; has never used any printed matter to attract people to it … the large membership has grown entirely from one neighbour telling the other about it.26
Twenty-five nationalities were represented; over forty percent of the members were British and thirty-six percent were Jewish.  Fifty percent were Protestant.


Such large numbers could never have been accommodated in the one house that had first opened as the new settlement in 1912.  Fortunately, in 1917 James Woods announced that he intended to rebuild the house, and in the next three years he spent $100,000 of his own money doing just that.  He hired Walter Davidson, a contractor, and together with the Head Worker they created a plan that grew step by step over a period of many months.27  Semi-detached houses on either side of St. Christopher House were purchased and then converted into a club rooms, meeting spaces and an enlarged library.  New staff bedrooms and sitting rooms were added.  When Woods’ son was killed in the first World War, he added a gym to the House as a memorial.  The gym, however, would occupy valuable playground space, so a request was made to the City for permission to close the back lane.  When City officials replied that this could not be done without the consent of the owners on both sides of the lane, Woods promptly bought the other house, obtained permission to close the lane for playground space, and then resold the house!  The gym was constructed, and its roof provided additional playground space for small children; it was “well-equipped and safe from the roughness of older children.”28

During these extensive renovations, the activities of the House carried on almost as usual.  The children loved the confusion and uncertainty, and adults found the building operations “an endless source of interest.  For the staff and volunteers, its distractions and uncertainties could be exacerbating.”29  The enlarged facility was to be home to St. Christopher House until 1973.

The Staff 

A settlement is first of all a house, where the workers eat and sleep and meet their friends and neighbours.  They do not swoop down upon the community from another sphere to change its ways; they are already on the ground, twenty-four hours in the day, seven days in the week, working out through the very heart of the neighbourhood.  And thus it is that a settlement is not a charity; it is not a case of one set of people giving something that another set receives, it is a pooling by all of us best we know how to share.  It is a living and a sharing of life.30
Who were these staff who lived and shared their lives in the poverty-stricken downtown neighbourhood served by St. Christopher House?  Sara Libby Carson, the national organizer and supervisor of the chain of Presbyterian settlements, made her home in a tiny attic room of the House when she wasn’t working in other parts of the country.  Her tasks were varied; training staff, recruiting church support, supervising programming and acting as a role model for staff and students.  For relaxation, she could be found making Christmas decorations for House parties, or leading a group of children in a new folk dance.  In 1915-16, Carson assisted University Settlement through a difficult period by acting as Head Worker.  She was often asked to speak always accompanied by a child from the House, whom she would sit “in the front31 seat to be a constant reminder that nothing must be said that could offend any settlement member.”  Carson left St. Christopher House in 1918.  She died ten years later in New York.

In spite of her remarkable record as an organizer, Miss Carson will perhaps be longest remembered for the extraordinary influence she exerted – usually unconsciously – on everyone with whom she came in contact.  Literally hundred of social workers owe their inspiration to her.32
With Carson away so much, a resident Head Worker was needed at the House.  Helen Hart was hired for this position in 1912.  Though only twenty-one years old, Hart possessed maturity and “an amazing knowledge of social work.”33  Since the age of twelve, she had accompanied her father, Dr. Hastings Hart, the head of the Russell Sage Foundation of New York, on his visits to all types of social agencies.  During her high school years, her father was supervisor of prisons for the state of New York, so Hart was exposed to the discussions of leaders in penal reform.  Hart was Head Worker at St. Christopher House until October 1917.


It would have been very difficult for the House to attract skilled workers at the low salaried set by the Church, so at various times the Board initiated special fundraising efforts to supplement the salaries.  Staff certainly earned their pay, as settlement work was both demanding and unpredictable:

A door-bell that rarely stops ringing brings anxious requests to rescue a cat from the sewer-pipe, to bury a bird, to phone the “City” that the plumbing burst, to send a nurse or anyone to stop poor Lilly’s “epileptic spells”, and so on and so.  The days and the years bring varying duties.34
In 1914, the Department of Social Services, the first social work training program in Canada, was established at the University of Toronto.  J.G. Shearer, one of the founders of St. Christopher House, had been a leading member of the group that has persuaded the university to establish this department.  (Another driving force behind the School was Shearer’s fellow Presbyterian, Dr. Robert Falconer, President of the University of Toronto and President of the Board of Directors of University Settlement.)


Some churchmen were concerned about what they saw as the incompatibility of sociology and the Gospel; others saw no conflict in using the expertise of the social scientist “in the service of God’s heaven on earth.”35  This latter group saw settlements with well trained workers as playing a major role in promoting moral and social reform.  Settlements could provide a source of data on social problems and serve as an example of effective Christian work.  Of the first full-time class of thirteen in the Social Services program, four were residents of St. Christopher House.  By 1915, there were two hundred students in the course, and by 1921 the House had six resident students, with four more completing field placements.

Paradoxically, the University criticized us because these students became too much absorbed in the settlement.  This was far from intentional on our part, but the students who came often found in Settlement work an outlet for their decent motives.  To all of them it provided a way of life that expressed their dedication to their fellow man without a necessity for being pious.36
As well as offering student placements, St. Christopher House provided lecturers for the Department of Social Services.  Carson was a lecturer for four years, and Hart gave classes on juvenile delinquency.  In the 1920’s, Ethel Dodds Parker gave an extensive course on settlement work, with detailed lectures on such topics as setting up a settlement, running a camp, keeping records, club work and selecting a Board.


Many of the staff and students who worked at St. Christopher House during its first fifteen years went on to become leaders in the field of social work.  John Wyatt, who joined the staff as the first Boys Worker, became Toronto’s Chief Probation Officer under Judge Mott, who presided over the first Juvenile Court.  Reginald Hopper, an early youth worker, later built the Crippled Children’s Society.  Jean Whitelaw, director of the Play School, later the first woman Commissioner of Welfare for the City of Toronto, and Constance Lawson the first director of the Children’s Aid Society in the Northwest Territories.  Jean McTaggart was the first Director of Family Welfare of Hamilton.  Ethel Dodds Parker was Director of the Public Welfare Division of the Department of Public Health in Toronto from 1927-31.  She served on the Board of Governers of the Canadian Welfare Council from 1936-59, and during the war was appointed Executive Secretary of War Services for the YWCA.


Another staff member, through less well known outside St. Christopher House, played an essential role for many years.  “Webb”, as he was simply known, was the janitor who came to the House in 1916.  From then until 1927 “his whole life was interwoven with the Settlement’s.”37
He tended the five coal furnaces that heated the buildings at that time.  In winter it seemed that he spent most of his day wheeling an old baby buggy filled with coal through all the basements as he fed first one then another of those monsters.  He fitted up a spot near one of those furnaces with a comfortable old chair and pictures on the walls.  There he could be found, with his pipe, thinking or repairing the children’s toys…38
Webb spent part of each year at the camp, making repairs or taking his holidays there.  In 1919, he married the camp cook at a ceremony held at the House, and for many years the couple lived in an apartment in St. Christopher House.


Staff and students who came to St. Christopher House were intensively trained by Carson and Hart and then “whisked off to help start another Settlement” in other parts of the country.  One student who stayed was Ethel Dodds (later Ethel Dodds Parker), who first came to the House as a student in 1914, and then became Head Worker from 1917-21.  She too had had an early exposure to social work.  When she was six years old, her minister father was sent to a reserve in Saskatchewan, where her mother organized women’s groups held in their house – Parker’s first taste of settlement work!  Parker has written a great deal about the early years at St. Christopher House.  She recalled:

As a student or staff member you did what you were told.  Workers were moved from place to place like men on a chessboard.  You were never asked whether you cared to go or not; you just went, and did your best.  This sort of military management really worked miracles in the opening up of one Presbyterian settlement after another.39
The Board of Management


From 1912 until 1918, the Presbyterian settlements were managed and supervised by the Board of Social Services and Evangelism, and while local Presbytery committees were involved, final decisions were the prerogative of the national Board.  There was increasing resentment of this centralized authority, until finally in 1917.

The Presbytery rose up in their might and insisted that all church work within their area must come under their management and be financed by the Board of Home Missions, only on the advice of the Presbytery.  The axe had fallen.  The selfless but absolutely autocratic methods of Dr. Shearer and Miss Carson accentuated the fact that the usual church method of administration was being bypassed.40
The General Assembly of the Presbyterian Church in Canada bowed to the demand for decentralized control of the settlements, and in 1918 management was handed over to local Presbyteries.  A sub-committee of the Home Missions Committee of the Toronto Presbytery was authorized to assume responsibility for the work at St. Christopher House and to establish a Board of Management.  Dr. George Pidgeon, for many years a leader in the Presbyterian reform movement, was assigned the task of setting up this layman’s board.  Representatives from most of the city’s Presbyterian churches volunteered to serve as Board members, but the strong and continuing group from Bloor Street Church.  G. Tower Fergusson was the first Board president, and Captain William Woods, the son of Sir James, was a member.

The meetings of that first Board were a joy.  Their fresh and genuine interest, their realism and their enjoyment of each other brought an atmosphere of good fellowship to their meetings.41
The Board of Management also included two ministerial representatives, one from the Board of Home Missions and one from the Toronto Presbytery.


The Presbytery representative had reservations about settlements work.  On his way to one Board meeting his car gave out.  He got to a garage in the area where he said to the mechanic, “Could you just fix it quickly, I’m on my way to a Board meeting at St. Christopher House and I don’t want to be late.”  The reply – “Yes, I’ll get you there.  Everything good that I know in this world I learned a St. Christopher house.”  The Board member entered a bit late and told the story.  It seemed to dispel the reservations.42
Church members became quite involved in the work of the House, organizing musical plays, staging concerts by church soloists, leading Sunday services at the Settlement, giving money to families in need, and donating books to the library.


In 1920, the St. Christopher House property was handed over by Sir James Woods to a newly incorporated body of trustees.

THE 1920’s AND THE 1930’s

The early 1920’s were difficult years for our neighbours, many of them recently came to Canada and struggling to get a footing.  Wages were low.  It was well nigh impossible to accumulate savings to cover the cost of illness in a family.  Unemployment struck hard at those without a trade.  There was no co-ordinated Department of Public Welfare.  No Unemployment Insurance, no Old Age Security or assistance, no Family Allowance…43
To these neighbours, St. Christopher House was a place to go to forget those troubles, to find a little hope. There were programs and special activities for every member of the family.  One member of the Mothers Club had four daughters, one son, one daughter in-law, two sons-in-law and ten grandchildren enrolled in various clubs!44  By the mid-twenties, up to five hundred people were visiting the House each day.


The youngest members of the House were the children who came to the morning Play School for games, songs, supervised free play and “milk and biscuit”.  Fundraising was an issue even in this group.  It was noted in the April 1929 House newsletter that “Play School children have been bringing their pennies since Christmas and now there is enough for a fish.”  By 1930 there were sixty-seven children enrolled in the Play School.


Sports were popular with the boys who came to St. Christopher House. They had teams in the Inter-Settlement Hockey League, where they placed first in 1930.  They also played in the Toronto and District and the Ontario Basketball leagues, went swimming at the YMCA, and used the House gym for other athletic activities.  There was an Aeroplane Club, woodworking class, stamp club and a Mouth Organ Band that placed second in the 1930 citywide contests.  A Scout Troop and Cub Pack were added to the Boys Program in 1939.  The girls also liked sports.  They played volleyball, badminton and basketball, and went ice-skating.  There were sewing and handicraft clubs, and in 1929 the girls made scrapbooks for the children at the Hospital for Sick Children.  By the end of the 1930’s, the Mother and Daughter Banquet, organized by the Girls Clubs, had become an annual event.


The Dramatics Department caught the interest of many of the children.  In 1920, a group of older boys and girls performed the musical play “Prince Charming”, and in subsequent years hundreds of children were involved in plays staged for the annual Spring Festival and Minstrel Show.  In 1929, a Saturday afternoon program of entertainment for children was begun with hope that children would come to the House instead of going to the movies, many of which were viewed by the staff as undesirable.  Summertime for the children meant hikes, picnics, the ever popular “hose parties”, Vacation Bible School, daily playground activities and trips to the camp at Lake Scugog.

The Library

I’m savin’ up to join the wibry… I keep my pennies in my shoe, but two fell out the hole.45
Children loved the St. Christopher House Library.  They came in after school to read, look at picture books, or to listen to stories around the fireplace.  In 1920, between 125 and 150 children regularly attended the five story hours held in the Library each Sunday.  Monthly circulation increased form five hundred books in 1921 to 4500 in the mid thirties.  The 1935 Annual Report of the House notes that “This year too among children’s libraries in this city, our library has held second place in the circulation of bible stories.”  The Children’s Division of the Toronto Public Library continued to provide books and a librarian who divided her time between St. Christopher House, Central Neighbourhood House and University Settlement.

The Music School


An exciting addition the children’s program during this period was the Music School which opened in 1930.  Head Worker Lally Fleming hired Helen Larkin to be the School’s first musical director.  Larkin who had studied at the Boston Conservatory of Music, later wrote:

I had no diplomas; these were not considered necessary for women in my home and community at that time… but the (Music School) was mine to develop in consultation with the head worker.46
Through correspondence, Larkin gathered information about music programs in American settlements, and then met with Sir Ernest MacMillan, Director of the Toronto Conservatory of Music to suggest that St. Christopher House be used as a training centre for music teachers.  MacMillan supported the idea, and the school was soon open.  In the first three months, fifty-six piano and seven violin pupils enrolled with five teachers.  Boris Berlin of the Conservatory tested the pupils at the end of each term, and members of the Toronto Symphony Orchestra, including violinist Elie Spivak and flutist Walter Whittaker, gave lessons at the school.  Other distinguished musicians like Norman Wilkes and the Hambourg Trio gave recitals.  There were student concerts and free tickets to local musical events.  The music school grew steadily during the 1930’s.

Adult Programs


Women were active members of the House.  The White Shield Club, with two hundred members in 1922, organized an annual Sale of Work and donated the proceeds to the Hospital for Sick Children, Women’s College Hospital, and the church missionary work.  When the sewing room opened at the House in 1935, women made quilts for the camp and clothing for their families.  These were displayed with great pride at an annual fashion show and sewing exhibit.  The women organized banquets and parties at the House, staged elaborate Christmas pageants and concerts, and attended lectures and “devotional talks” as part of their club activities.  In 1929 Parent Education Class was introduced in conjunction with the St. George School of Child Study, and two years later a rug-making class was added.  A special Club for European women was formed in 1934.  The St. Christopher House Women’s Auxiliary began its valuable work in 1936.  The Auxiliary contacted women’s groups at various churches for donations and soon was successful in acquiring new curtains, furnishings and kitchen equipment for the House. In 1939 the Auxiliary paid for a “moving picture” projector and screen.


The Sir James Woods Men’s Club continued to meet several evenings a week for billiards and games and for lectures by Sir James.  In 1929, members heard a speaker from the Ontario Motor League describe “A Motor Trip to Vancouver”, and in 1933 Professor MacPhae spoke on “The Economic Situation”.  Sir James attended that night and noted “it was splendid… The men are marvelously patient and courageous, not a red streak in any of them as far as I could tell.”47  During the Depression the Men’s Clubrooms were opened to the neighbourhood’s unemployed and in 1933 an average of 145 men were attending this drop-in program.  A joint committee of the Men’s and Women’s Clubs assumed responsibility for a series of social evenings for the unemployed and their wives, and in 1924 a group of men without work spent a week renovating Camp St. Christopher.


The financial constraint experienced by the house in the 1930’s “cemented the bond of fellowship throughout the various clubs and created a co-operative spirit.”48  Members of the men’s and women’s clubs redecorated and painted several club rooms and continued to organize fundraising events to offset program expenses.


Throughout the 1930’s, club membership ranged from one thousand to fifteen hundred.  In 1930, over twenty nationalities were represented, and less than half of the members were English-speaking backgrounds.  Jewish membership declined from forty percent of the total membership in 1930 to twenty percent in 1939; many Jewish families were leaving the neighbourhood for newer districts of the city.  Only half of the membership was Protestant.  

Alumni Association


In February 1931, 148 young men and women who had been part of the children’s program at St. Christopher House in its early years met for a reunion.  The resulting Alumni Association began to hold annual partied which included dancing, euchre and entertainment and skits performed by the members.  Members recalled fondly their experiences at the House.  In 1935, a young woman who had attended the House as a child and then moved to Northern Ontario, brought seventeen men, women and children in a truck to visit the Canadian National Exhibition.  While in Toronto, the group visited St. Christopher House, where the women related this story:

There’s nothing for these chaps to do there.  They’re all on relief and when some of them get a bit of money their one idea is to go to town and drink it.  I knew his was no good so I got them together and formed a club.  The boys cut down the trees and built the clubhouse and it’s real nice. My brother plays the mouth organ and he taught some of the others so they are the orchestra.  My husband organized a baseball team, and we go in a truck to other districts and play their teams.  We sure do have a good time.  I knew the needed something like St. Christopher House because I remember what that meant to us when we were kids.49
Relief Work

Fuel has been given out.  We are using our own supply, and later Mr. Hewitt will send a like amount from the Gas Company.  The donations of groceries that come at Thanksgiving are about used up.  We have had quite a few calls for clothing.50
While the House did not emphasize relief work, staff did try to respond to the immediate needs of families in the neighbourhood whenever there were sufficient donations from College Street, Deer Park and Bloor Street United Churches.  Small amounts of the House budget were also used for relief - $79.37 in 1930, and $202.36 in 1931.51  Extra milk and food were obtained for “invalids and undernourished children”52 and clothing, bedding, shoes and boots were distributed.  Home visits – there were 2500 such visits in 1934 – were an integral part of the staff’s work.  Through these visits, staff found out who might need some coal, a visit form the nurse, a pair of shoes, or English classes.

St. Christopher House and the United Church


In 1925, Canada’s Methodists, Congregationalists and many Presbyterians joined to form the united Church of Canada.  St. Christopher House then came under the auspices of United Church’s Board of Home Missions.  The new United Church was a large organization, with many demands placed on its financial resources.  By the 1930’s the grim realities of the Depression put severe restraints on the ability of the Church to support poorer congregations and fund special projects, and even to maintain faculty at its college.  While programs at St. Christopher House struggled to expand to meet the growing needs, there was no corresponding increase in allocations from the Board of Home Missions.  Staff salaries had to be supplemented by fundraising efforts in order to keep them competitive, though they often surpassed the amount the Church was able to pay its own clergy.  The reduction of funding from the Church during the early years of the Depression (from $12,500 in 1928 to $12,000 in 1929, to $10,000 in 1930) was a source of aggravation and disappointment to the Board and staff of the House, and particularly to sir James Woods.  Noting the aggregate attendance for 1930 of over 106,000, he wrote: “If we worked this out at a total cost of $10,000 – it would figure at less than ten cents per attendance.  What kind of service can you render at that cost?”53  In 1932, Sir James complained again about the funding situation in a letter to George Pidgeon:

There is a feeling among many who do not know the origin and history of St. Christopher /house that it is a hobby of mine that I maneuvered the Church into supporting and perhaps the personal element was unduly attended but I don’t think I ever had more than a natural pride in the success of an enterprise into which my family and I have put more than $150,000.  I was led into this expenditure by the promise of the Presbyterian Church in Canada to support and maintain the work…54
There was also disagreement over religious instruction.  In a report to the Presbyterian Church in Canada General Assembly of 1923, the Board of Home Missions noted that at St. Christopher House

So far as can be done without Church or Chapel, every effort is made to keep the religious element prominent.  Bible stories are told in the playroom each morning.  The mothers Club Devotional Meeting resembles a congregational prayer meeting.  On Sunday afternoon, Bible Stories are told to groups of different ages, and a song service is held on Sunday evenings.

Yet some Church members felt that not enough explicitly religious instruction was taking place at the House and they questioned its receiving funding as a Church Institution.  They were critical of Ethel Dodds Parker, Head Worker from 1917-21, for her preference for university-trained social workers over graduates of the United Church Training Schools, and her views on the purpose of St. Christopher House.

The only type of Christian worker she was ever interested in, she told us, was in improving people socially and brightening their lives and preparing them, through social ministries, for good citizenship.  We took the position that no person was prepared entirely for good citizenship unless they had known of the influence and the fellowship of the Christian Church.55
The closest United Church to the House was College Street Church.  It had a long history of community and social service work in the downtown neighbourhood.  A Chinese Sabbath School was formed in 1903, and a Men’s Association in 1907.  A Business Girls Club at the Church provided lunch for office workers.  There were Men’s and Women’s Clubs, a Vacation Bible School, summer camp, and children’s activities in the gym that was added in 1923.  A deaconess was hired to work on relief and unemployment problems faced by neighbourhood families.


In 1933 the Board of Home Missions recommended to the Toronto Centre Presbytery that the social services work of St. Christopher House and College Street Church be formally united.  This amalgamation was approved on June 21, 1933.  It was agreed that there would be one Board of Management chaired by the minister of College Street Church, and that the current Head Worker at St. Christopher House be the first supervisor of this joint effort.  The Board was to be made up of clergy and lay representatives of the Home Missions Board and Council, the College Street Church congregations appointed by the Presbytery for their interest in this type of work.  For the first time, women were to be included on the Board; the President of the Women’s Auxiliary and two former Head Workers became members.  Funding would be continued to be allocated by the Board of Home Missions.  By June of the following year the new Board was in place.  The church deaconess worked part-time at the House, and the St. Christopher House Boys Worker ran programs at the Church and taught Sunday School.  The Annual Report for 1934 noted that “The coordination of the work for the community under one general supervising head has, during the past year, worked out remarkably well.”


Funding continued to be problematic, as the amount provided by the Board of Home Missions dropped to $8,000 in 1933 and remained low for the following years.  Donations from local churches were counted on to keep programs and relief efforts operational.  A Committee of the Board of Management was struck to study the work of the House.  In February 1938, it outlined three major areas of concern: staff, finances and salaries, and concluded that under Church auspices the House was “starved and dying by inches.”  Its recommended application to the Federation for Community Service and salary adjustment to levels comparable to other agencies.  The Board agreed that Federation support was indeed necessary; an application was submitted and approved in April 1938.  The Toronto Centre Presbytery assured the Federation of its continued support and interest in the social service work done by the House, and agreed to enlarge the Board by appointing new members and inviting them to elect a layman as Chairperson.  Ethel Dodds Parker, George Pidgeon and Sir James Woods become Board members at this time.  The first allocation to St. Christopher-College Street from the Federation for Community Service, $3,268, was received in 1939.  The Church contributed $6,000, and donations from other sources brought that year’s total budget to $11,652.  Sir James Woods died in 1941, after thirty years of committed involvement in St. Christopher House.

His help was most notable for its consistently practical and beneficial form, his efforts were always directed toward providing the means by which people were able to help themselves, rather than by direct giving which so often has a demoralizing instead of strengthening effect… It is our desire and resolution that the work of this house shall continue to the lasting glory of the man who made it possible…56
The interest of the Woods family did not end with the death of Sir James.  His son, two grandsons and a great-granddaughter have subsequently become members of the Board of Directors of St. Christopher House.

THE 1940’s AND 1950’s


A housing survey of the neighbourhood surrounding St. Christopher House indicated that in 1933 seventy-nine percent of the homes in the area were substandard.  Then years later the neighbourhood was described by the City Planning Board as the most densely populated area of the city, and as a “blighted and slum area.”57  A number of the more unsightly houses on Leonard and Dennison Avenues were replaced by the early 1940’s, but “unfortunately, the back alleys and the overcrowded houses remain and the problems created by these conditions are still with us.”58  The St. Christopher House annual Report of 1951 indicated that there had been little improvement in the housing situation.

In the overcrowded area bounded by Queen Street, Bathurst Street, College Street and Spadina Avenue there is to be found a population of over 11,000 persons existing in some of the worst housing conditions in the City of Toronto…

By the late 1950’s, the area was being affected by the post-war building boom.  Many houses were demolished to allow for the rebuilding of Ryerson and King Edward Schools and for the expansion of Toronto Western Hospital and the University of Toronto.  Various plans for the redevelopment of the area known as Alexandra Park were being developed and considered.  With all these developments, St. Christopher House took on the role of “middleman” between the Planning Board and the people, and by January 1958 the House had issued two newsletters and organized a public meeting at the House.  250 neighbours came to St. Christopher House to hear the Director of the Toronto Planning Board explain the proposed development of Alexandra Park.  “These efforts on our part have been very useful in curbing rumours, providing accurate information and letting the planners see and hear what the concerns of the neighbours are.59  The House had noted the trend of American settlements during the previous ten years “towards a building-centred function, to the neglect of the traditional neighbourhood function.”60  A commitment was made “to develop on the part of each staff member a neighbourhood-centred approach in whatever we do.”61

The population of the neighbourhood underwent significant changes during this period.  While it had been sixty percent Jewish after the war, by 1958 the neighbourhood was sixty percent Roman Catholic.  The percentage of House members who were Jewish dropped from thirty-three to nineteen between 1954and 1956.  Jewish families had continued to move north; they were replaced by immigrants of over thirty nationalities, including Italians, Portuguese, Greeks, Japanese-Canadians, Ukrainians, Poles and Hungarians.  Among these people were many “displaced persons” from Europe who moved in and out of the district very rapidly as their situation improved.  Blacks made up ten percent of the House membership in 1949.  Although the war had created some jobs, unemployment continued to be a major problem in the neighbourhood.

We see very little change in employment among our people middle-aged men who have been unemployed are still unemployed. It is true that some of our families are better off financially because someone in the family has joined the army, but this is only a temporary condition.62
The War Years


The impact of World War II was clearly reflected in the activities at St. Christopher House in the early 1940’s.

In families where the men or boys are overseas- and families of New Canadians whose countries have been ravaged by war-there is increasing strain and uncertainty … The Settlement through stimulating interests and relaxation provides a stabilizing influence in the community…63
The adult groups at St. Christopher House concentrated on the war effort. The Mothers Club raised $180 and knitted scarves and socks for servicemen.  Mothers of children in the Play School made articles for hospitals and clothing for refugee children.  The Men’s Club donated the proceeds from a dance and euchre party and purchased a $100 War Savings Certificate.  The clubs sent money and cigarettes to their members who were overseas and older youth sponsored dances for servicemen.  The war affected the children as well.  When a 1942 survey revealed that twenty-five percent of the children using House programs had both parents working, staff decided to continue the full children’s program throughout the summer.  There was also great concern at that time about the startling rise in juvenile delinquency, estimated by judge Mott to have increased by 90% between 1941 and 1942.  At the House, some of the children became caught up in the conflicts of their homelands.  In one of the House girls clubs, problems between girls erupted; several Jewish girls left one club meeting upset by anti-Semitic remarks.

The children appeared not only hurt but also humiliated, and one child said ‘This isn’t Germany yet, you know.’  It is difficult at the moment to decide whether it is definite anti-Semitic feeling due to the recent publicity on this question or whether it is caused entirely by a few troublesome Gentile girls who have previously tried other methods of gaining attention.64
It was noted that by the following month the problem had subside, though the girls still segregated themselves in the games and some were not speaking. Children’s program staff were troubled by this incident and used individual and group discussions with the children to discourage further episodes.


Just after the war, a number of Japanese-Canadians who had been expelled as a result of government policy from the West Coast of Canada, were relocated in downtown Toronto.  St. Christopher House initiated a club for Japanese-Canadian boys in 1945.

Conscious of prejudices outside the district, they aren’t anxious to mix with other people, yet at the House they are proud of co-operating in all activities.65
This club formed its own basketball team, the Mustang Nisei, which played in the Toronto Japanese League.  In 1950, the team captured the title in the Japanese International Basket Tournament held in Montreal, and in 1956, the Mustangs won a tournament of Nisei teams from Hamilton, Chicago and Cleveland.  This meet was held at St. Christopher House.

Adult Programs


Although the war was the major preoccupation, there was still time for other concerns and activities. The Sir James Woods Men’s Club continued to meet regularly for billiards, darts and carpet ball, and to organize monthly dances.  Members of that club also took an active interest in Boys Club work at the House.  They bought caps for the Cub Pack in 1939 and belonged to the Cubs and Scouts Committee.  The Nursery School Mothers started a gym program and the Parent Education Classes were held regularly.  Nursery School parents were active in fundraising.  In 1950, they organized a Parents Party, to which fifty mothers and twenty-two fathers came for a movie, skits and square dancing.  In 1947, an afternoon Junior Kindergarten opened at the House; parents paid two dollars each month for their children to attend.


In 1940, the Federation of Mothers Clubs, to which the St. Christopher House women’s group belonged, held lectures by Helen Hall of the Henry Street Settlement in New York and by Alderman Plumtre of Toronto City Council.  Both speakers stressed the responsibility of women to vote and to take an interest in city government.  The 175 women in attendance were especially delighted by Helen Hall’s story of a mothers group marching with a cow to the steps of city hall to demand support for a milk co-operative.  The White Shield Club disbanded in 1957 after forty-three years of activity.  Membership had declined, because many of the Anglo-Saxon members had moved away from the area, active, organizing fundraising events.  The first club specifically for seniors, the Autumn Club, was formed in 1954.


There was concern in the early 1950’s that immigrant adults were reluctant to socialize at the House.  This problem was resolved when a $2500 civic grant in 1953 allowed the House to hire an experienced multilingual worker to develop social and recreational programs for non-Anglo adults.  By the end of the year, monthly attendance in the twenty-four group programs that were established had reached 750.  Many adults living in rooms came to St. Christopher House for Sunday afternoon get-togethers which included a light meal.  Those with poor sanitation facilities at home came to use the showers.


The informal English classes taught at the House by volunteers appealed to many who found the classes offered by the Board of Education too structures.  In 1955, over 125 adults paid the one dollar registration fee for the classes.  The largest ethnic group represented was Portuguese, followed by Italians, Ukrainians, Germans and Hungarians.  Classes were also offered in the home:

Because many of the newcomers have a cultural pattern which does not allow the wives to go to neighbourhood centres, we are presently experimenting with English classes in the homes.  We send a volunteer teacher into a home where several neighbours have gathered together to learn out language and customs.66
The Kensington area had the highest rate of traffic accidents in the city.  In response to this, traffic safety classes for immigrants were initiated by the House in 1958; eighty students studied street signs and traffic regulations.  The English class students also participated in swimming and volleyball activities, and in 1956, the New Canadian Council, was formed.  Special events were planned, and members became involved in other House projects – volunteering for painting and plastering jobs and door duty at House dances.  Neighbourhood immigrants were badly affected by the rise in unemployment in the late 1950’s.  Sixty-five percent of the English class students were out of work in 1959.

Some limited sort of help seems to be available for most of the unemployed but the greater tragedy is what it does to their morale.  As one Portuguese boy said “I’m not happy cause I work.  I bite my hands and fight and get lazy.”67
On Wednesday afternoons the House billiard tables were still being covered with sheets for the well Baby and Toxoid Clinics, which for so many years had been used by neighbourhood women.  Doctors and nurses from the Public Health Department gave mothers advice on baby care and diet, dispensed toxoid and whooping cough serum, conducted a weekly “check-over” of Nursery School and day camp children, and completed thorough annual check-ups, with the mothers present, of all the Nursery School children.  In 1957, four hundred women and children used the clinic at the House.

Children’s Programs


St. Christopher House was filled with children’s activities during the 1940’s and 1950’s.  There were many clubs, with names like The Jive Bombers, The Bing Fans, Club Moonglow and Junior Jamboree.  Children came after school and on weekends for sports, arts and crafts, woodworking, games, drama and dancing, and to use the Library, where they were “overjoyed (to) find a book about their own country.”68  (The Library moved out of the House in 1959 as the space was needed for programs.)  From 1944-46, the Board of Education provided hot lunches at St. Christopher House for the children of mothers working in war industries.  The pre-school Nursery School survived financial difficulties in the early forties by special fund-raising efforts and appeals to the Women’s Auxiliary and the Federation for Community Service.  At the end of 1941 there were fifty children in the Nursery and many photography group and ballet classes were added to the children’s program in 1946.  And staff were available to offer support to parents:

One of the most valuable but least spectacular bits of work done is the contact made with the homes and parents of our children through the calls made by staff.  So often the cause of difficulties is found in talking with parents and a clearer understanding of how we can best cooperate with the parents is reached.  In their turn, parents come to us with their worries about their children or home situation and together we seek for some solution.69
In the 1950’s, more attention was given to children with special needs and to youth. Separate groups were mildly retarded and emotionally disturbed children were established in 1957 “under out best social work leadership”.70  Selective intake, an emphasis on individualized rather than generalized service, and new record-keeping procedures were introduced, reflecting trends in the social work field towards a more therapeutic approach.  In 1955, a new club was developed for a group of teenage boys who were “hanging around outside the building clamouring to ‘storm the fortress’”.71  They were invited into the House for sports, pool, ping-pong and boxing.  Youth work was identified as the House’s highest priority for 1958, “because of the seriousness of the personal and social problems… encountered in this age range”72 by staff at the House – problems that included chronic unemployment and theft, pimping, prostitution, narcotic addiction and a high number of youth “dropping out” of school.


Decentralization of programming began in 1956 when St. Christopher House rented space in the Russian Ukrainian Church at 24 Carr Street for a recreational program for children too young to cross the busy streets near the House.  Also around that time, Program Director Jean Alderwood introduced the annual Children’s Parade through the neighbourhood streets to mark the end of the Easter holiday program.  The children made costumes, and celebrities such as the Howdy Doody Show troupe joined in the festivities.  Camp St. Christopher became a more general church camp, accepting children and mothers from United Church congregations across the city.  With a shortage of male volunteers during the war, enrollment at camp declined during those years.  There was also a hesitation on the part of some immigrant parents to send their children away to camp.  Each year, a group of young people from Bloor Street United Church spend a weekend at the camp cleaning, painting and gardening in preparation for the busy summer ahead.  Vacation Bible School continued with games, sports, outings and Bible stories until 1950, when it was replaced with a new day camp program located in a park in the Rosedale Ravine.  Each child paid a registration fee of 25 cents, as well as car fare and milk costs.  Even so, it was an expensive program for the House to offer, primarily because of staffing costs.  In 1955, “Funtime”, a day camp program for five-to-seven year olds, was started at the House.  By 1957, summer activities included swimming at Harbord Collegiate, overnight camping excursions and trips to Toronto Island for sand castle competitions and scavenger hunts.

The Music School


While individual instruction in piano and violin remained the central activities of the Music School, there were several new program developments in the 1940’s and 1950’s.  Classes in voice, theory and music appreciation were added in 1940, group piano lessons were introduced in 1948, and accordion classes in 1959.  William Metcalfe, a piano tuner/technician with Heintzmans, began his thirty years of interest in the School in 1941.  He helped the School acquire pianos at moderate prices and became leader of the Beacon Choristers, which started as a double quartet, composed primarily of blind persons.  The Choristers gave concerts at the House and for many years enjoyed summer weekend reunions at the camp on Lake Scugog.  The camp cook, recalled Metcalfe, became so interested in to group that he voluntarily stayed on to cook for them in later years and eventually became one of the Choristers himself.73

Donna Roblin Wood first came to St. Christopher House in 1940 as a volunteer pianist while she completed advanced studies in music.  She then became the first person with a specialist diploma to join the School’s staff.  Before leaving in 1946, Wood started a Mothers Club Choir of sixty to eighty voices.  “The choir gave concerts for their own and their neighbours’ pleasure.”74  Wood also hired Madame Lasserre to introduce free classes in eurhythmics for small children.75  This contributed to Wood’s specialized interest in music programs for very young children. She later taught at the Royal Conservatory of Music of Toronto and shared her knowledge with a number of Toronto nursery schools.


Music students from the Conservatory lived in residence at St. Christopher House and assisted in the Music School.  In 1942, under the direction of these residents, Music School students wrote, arranged and performed a play entitled “The Life if Bach.”  Following the war, there was an influx of students from Europe.  A system of full and partial subsidies was introduced so that all interested children could take lessons. On occasion, the School actually moved some of its pianos into the homes of promising students to facilitate their practicing.  A Music Committee, made up of teachers, former teachers, and members of the Women’s Auxiliary, was formed to provide support, suggestions and financial backing to the Music School.  The Committee organized concerts and raised money for music books and student fees.  Pianos at the House were in great demand by students wanting to practice.  “It is not uncommon to see two children trying to practice at the same time on one piano.”76
Other House Activities


In addition o regular programming, staff and members manages to find time to plan special events held throughout the year.  The Spring Festival brought children, their parents and friends together for an afternoon and evening of music, drama and dancing.  In1940, the House was used for a wedding reception; this was apparently the second time club members decided to celebrate their wedding at St. Christopher House.  Christmas was always a busy season.  In 1957, for example, there were forty-eight different parties or special activities at the House, and the Women’s Auxiliary and church groups prepared dozens of gift baskets and dinners for needy neighbours. 


Time was also found for the staff to be involved innumerous outside organizations, including the Welfare Council, the Downtown Church workers Association, the Federation of Toronto Settlements, the Canadian Association Board and the Camping Association.  “All this added up to no mean amount of work outside the regular program activities of the House and the numerous contacts with the families of our children.”77

In the late 1930’s, when funding restraints had so seriously affected staffing, St. Christopher House lost its standing as a training centre for the University of Toronto School of Social Work.  In 1948, with the hiring of a Program Director who met with the approval of the faculty, the House was reinstated as a field practice centre.  After that, the House continued to provide training opportunities for students from the Physical Education, Psychology and Social Work departments of the university of Toronto and from the United Church Training School.


Beatrice Wilson became Head Worker of St. Christopher House in 1943.  A graduate of the University of Toronto and the United Church Training School, Wilson had previous experience in church work, YWCA work, and teaching.  At St. Christopher House she ably faced the challenge of building effective relationships among the Church, Federation for Community Service and the House, as well as administering programs that were expanding in scope and complexity.

By hard work and wise recruitment of able leadership, she received St. Christopher House in its activities, and she restored the image and influence of St. Christopher House in the church and thecommunity.78
Wilson resigned in 1953.  She was replaced by John Haddad.


In the early years of St. Christopher House, most staff members, the housekeeping staff, and some of the students lived in the residence.  They paid only the cost of their food, but staff salaried took this “privilege of residence” into account.  Gradually the residence lost its appeal to staff.  More men were entering social work, and women were staying in the field after marriage; living in residence did not fit well with family life.  The trend towards professionalism brought more demand for regular working hours.  “Living in” made this difficult.  In 1960, faced with funding shortages, the Board decided to close the residence, eliminating the position of cook and the subsidy of residents, which by this time amounted to $750 each per year.  The rooms were quickly converted into office space.  The closing of the residence, which had been so critical a component of the original concept of settlement work, marked the end of a chapter in the history of St. Christopher House. Ethel Dodds Parker, Head Worker from 1917-21, spent some time at the House in 1962.  In a speech made at the 50th Anniversary Reunion in May 1962, she noted:

There seemed to me to be more real democracy than in the earlier days. It seemed as if the having of no staff residence made the whole house available to everyone on an equal basis.

By 1960 there were fourteen fulltime program staff.  All but four had formal training in social work, teaching, music, art or health and physical education.  Additional staff, twelve in 1959, were hired to run summer programs.  Staff by this time reflected the racial, religious and ethnic diversity of the neighbourhood; no longer were they all members of the united of Presbyterian Churches.

The House and the Church


In 1960, with no prior consultation with the house, the Board of Home Missions notified St. Christopher House that its annual grant would not be renewed beyond that year.  The money would instead be given to an institutional church in the area where the program would include preaching, pastoral work and Christian education activities.  The board of the House urged reconsideration of the decision to terminate funding, arguing that the long connection existing between the two bodies had been a strength to both:

Not only has the atmosphere of the Church guided, directed and supported the House, but also the work of the House, always closely identified with the church, has been a credit to the Church.79
The Board of Home Missions did reconsider, and the grant was renewed.  However the ties between the two organizations were weakening.  In 1963, St. Christopher House was incorporated as an independent organization.  It continued to receive a small grant from the united Church, and for the next ten years, a half-time position at the House was reserved for a church person, most often a retired clergyman, who did home visits and recommended local churches to the “unchurched.”

ST. CHRISTOPHER HOUSE 1960-1984

Of all the Settlement Houses in downtown Toronto, the St. Christopher House seemed for some fifty years the most solidly based and permanent.80
Yet in the years since the 1950’s, nothing else has so occupied Board time and energy as the issue of relocation, to a new building in the 1970’s, to a new neighbourhood in the 1980’s.  Planning the relocations was a complex and time-consuming process.  Securing the necessary funding was problematic, and much time was needed to clarify and redefine the House’s mandate, to thoroughly research alternatives and to work closely in the planning process with a number of community groups and agencies. 


The idea that St. Christopher House might ever move first surfaced in 1956.  The Twenty-five Year Parks Plan called for an extension of community centres throughout the city.  The Board of St. Christopher House decided that if the new centre reduced the need for its services, the House would not hesitate to move to a new location where its services were needed.81  Space problems in the House were becoming acute by the late 1950’s, though this problem was eased somewhat by the closing of the residence and the library.  By the mid 1960’s, the old St. Christopher House building, by this time between seventy and one hundred years old, had deteriorated badly.  There were termites, roaches and mice, and the furnace, roof, walls and pipes needed repair.  Several alternatives were discussed – adding a portable structure or a permanent addition, or constructing a new building.


In 1962, the Alexandra Park Study Committee, setup by the Social Planning Council to study the need for a community centre in the area, presented a report to the Toronto Planning Board.  It recommended a neighbourhood centre “that integrates under one roof basic community services such as group services, public health, counselling, a library and a Day Care Centre,” and that St. Christopher House “should be asked to give up their present building and to operate the new centre.”82  In 1964, the House established a Future Plans Committee to study current services, community needs and options for the House.  Within two years, ten background papers were produced by the Committee, along with conclusions that:

1. The need for the House serving as a focal point for community activities is greater now than ever before.

2. It will be impossible for the house to continue to give adequate service to the community unless a new building is found.

3. The triangle of land at the southeast corner of Bathurst and Dundas Streets… is a location that will enable the House to serve Alexandra Park, the Kensington area and the area west of Bathurst Street both north and south of Dundas.83
The recommendations had the backing of the Social Planning Council and captured the interest of civic officials, who did, however, caution that civic funds were not nearly so available now as they had been ten years earlier when the City agreed to construct a new building for University Settlement.


The old buildings were appraised at $240,000, and it was estimated that a new building would cost $880,000.  The search for funding began.  The Board’s suggestion that the new St. Christopher House be one of the City’s Centennial Projects was turned down in favour of the St. Lawrence Centre for the Arts.  On November 9, 1966, City Council endorsed in principle “the desirability of erecting a major recreation and neighbourhood services centre… to be owned by the City and operated by St. Christopher House.”84  Financial support from the provincial and federal levels of government would be needed to implement the plan.

After the thrill of success in1966, succeeding years found St. Christopher House enmeshed in a series of frustrating complexities: competition for the use of the Triangle; changing City Hall policies; the seeming impossibility of getting a definite commitment of funds from any level of government; the steady deterioration of the Wales Avenue buildings; and, perhaps most unsettling of all, uncertainties and differences of opinion as to what their won course should be. The mood of the Board changed from hope and enthusiasm in early 1967 to exasperation and frustration as 1968 and 1969 passed without appreciable results, and to deep pessimism by 1970.85
The estimated cost of the new building had risen to one million dollars, and it now seemed doubtful that the City would even pay for the land.  The old buildings were deemed unsafe by the City Buildings Department.  In January 1971 the Board decided to accept an offer by Toronto Western Hospital to purchase the old buildings for $250,000, making it more urgent for St. Christopher House to decide on its future.  Negotiations with the City resumes, and the move to temporary quarters began.  Half of the Nursery School moved to the church on Carr Street where the House had offered children’s programs in the 1950’s.  The Older Adult Services moved to Queen Street United Church, and for six months the Music School relocated in the new Ryerson Public School.  In 1972, decentralization continued with the remainder of the Nursery School and the Portuguese Interpreter Service moving to Kensington Community School.  The Board decided to purchase a property at 84 Augusta Avenue as an interim location.  Initial plans to move two old houses onto the lot and renovate them for administrative and program space proved to be too costly.  So the decision was made to construct a new building on the Augusta Avenue site.  In 1972, a 60th Anniversary Party and Reunion was held at St. Christopher House – all were aware that his was the last such event to be held in the old buildings.


The new St. Christopher House opened in 1973.  It was designed to accommodate administration, the Music School, art classes, and youth, family services and Community development staff.  By 1974, the Older Adult centre had taken over all of Queen Street United Church, and the Nursery Schools were well situated in their decentralized locations.  The Sir James Woods Men’s Club, which by the 1970’s had only a few elderly members who met weekly for cards and billiards, decided to disband at the time of the move.86  It was the children and youth who still desperately needed the space and facilities of a community centre Toronto Western Hospital’s plan to build a heating plant on the site of the old House met with strong community opposition.  Eventually, with strong community, a non-profit housing corporation, acquired the property and constructed affordable housing units on the site.


By this time there had been several staff changes at St. Christopher House.  John Haddad resigned as Executive Director in 1967.  He was resigned by former Program Director David Maben, who in turn was succeeded in early 1972 by Jean Palmer, a social worker with fourteen years experience as Director of the YWCA.  Community involvement and resident participation had become paramount concerns.  Maben had kept neighbours aware of the development plans by meeting with residence associations, churches and service organizations, and information was being translated into Portuguese.  The community development position at the House was once again filled, and the proposed new community centre for the area was now seen by the Future Plans Committee as a “community and not a St. Christopher House facility”, to be managed eventually by its own community board.87

The Scadding Court Advisory Committee, with representation from St. Christopher House, local residents and the two Ward Aldermen, was appointed by City Council.  At a meeting called by the Committee in February 1974, 150 residents recommended that the land on the Triangle be used for a community centre.  This proposal was adopted by City Council, and designs were drawn up for presentation to the Committee in October 1974.

The design included everything the residents had asked for, plus an addition to the Sanderson Library which would be connected with the centre.  At long last, the dream of a community centre on the Scadding Court Triangle seemed about to become a reality.88
Now that St. Christopher House and the Scadding Court Centre were two separate identities, there were questions as to the role the House should play in the operation and management of the new centre.  Some felt that the House should eventually sell the building at 84 Augusta and move into Scadding Court and run the building and programs there.  Others argues that the Centre should be run by the residents and that the House should offer some programs there but have only one vote on the Board.  It was finally agreed that rather than being a St. Christopher House centre, Scadding Court would the community’s centre, with its own Board of Directors, staff and programs.  The House assisted by offering staff and Board expertise to help secure funding for the centre and in developing programs at the new facility, which opened in July 1979.

Community Development

I guess you could say that my job is to help the neighbourhood find its own voice.89
In 1961, St. Christopher House hired Charlyn Howze as Toronto’s first neighbourhood community worker.  Her confidence in the ability of neighbourhood groups and individuals to stand and speak for themselves encouraged much positive action.  Howze helped organize the Alexandra Park Residents Association in 1963 and guided that group through the several phases of years of urban renewal planning and implementation.  Her depth of knowledge of the Kensington community, where she was born, led to her 1967 appointment, on loan from St. Christopher House, to the City Development Department to assist in the Kensington urban renewal project.  By the time of her death in 1968, Howze, locally referred to as the “Angel of Kensington”, had established St. Christopher House as a leader in community development work in west central Toronto. 90 The House’s commitment to community work was clearly articulated in a 1966 Statement of Objectives.  It stressed the tackling of community problems by collective citizen action, and the role of the House in initiating reform, promoting the democratic participation of neighbours and providing professional support to self-help groups.

The Beautify Our Neighbourhood Campaign

We’ve been called a slum.  We’re afraid to go out at night and our children are ashamed to bring friends home.  But you and I are not hoodlums.  Let’s stop the decay before it’s too late. Let’s paint our houses, repair our fences, get rid of the garbage in our back yards.  Let’s make this area a decent place to raise children.

Thus spoke the Chairman of the Beautify Our Neighbourhood Campaign to a 1963 meeting of one thousand local residents held in a park close to St. Christopher House.  Organization of this clean-up campaign had begun in March 1963, when St. Christopher House invited forty neighbourhood leaders to a meeting.  The one month campaign was launched by a parade, and closed by a presentation of prizes and awards at a neighbourhood coffee party.  It had been successful in a number of ways: City departments co-operated in road and sidewalk repairs and extra garbage collection; houses were painted, porches mended, garden planted; and the neighbourhood won a trophy for this outstanding co-operative effort.  Kensington Market merchants joined the campaign when it was repeated in 1964, and local residents began to look at other issues facing their neighbourhood, such as traffic safety, parking lots and housing.

Alexandra Park


Since 1957, when the first meetings were held to discuss the redevelopment of that area south of Dundas Street known as Alexandra Park, St. Christopher House played an important role in the renewal of the area.  When residents tired of the endless delays and the subsequent rapid deterioration of their neighbourhood during the period of inaction from 1957-64, the House community worker helped them organize to press City Hall to either proceed with the plans or scrap them.  In 1964, seventy people made deputations at public meetings attended by hundreds of people.  The renewal plan was finally adopted, and the first expropriation notices were given later that year.  Arthur Davis, an employee of the House, was lent to the City for two years to help with the relocation of residents.  When construction was completed in 1968, it was a very different neighbourhood.  Houses owned by middle-aged European families, many with single male boarders, had been replaced with over five hundred units.  Three hundred were for seniors, the remainder were for families, many of them led by single parent women. (The House’s lobbying for housing for single adults had not been fruitful.)


A new Residents Association was formed in 1969, and in 1975 community work staff helped the Association negotiate a new Tenant-Management Agreement with Ontario Housing Corporation.  It included ten paid resident positions and a joint Board of Management.  A resident-staffed community service team, providing a clothing store, lunch program and help for seniors, was also expanded that year.  The Alexandra Park Community Centre, built by the co-operative efforts of the Residents Association and the Housing Corporation, opened in 1978, with space for the Co-op Food Store previously housed in the basement of St. Christopher House, recreational activities, meetings and the Association office.


By 1984, both the Alexandra Park Community Centre and the Scadding Court community Centre had elected strong community-based Boards of Directors.  The four year old Community Agency Network was functioning well and a Community Festival held in June 1984 attracted several thousand people.  Community leadership and co-operation among local agencies, developed over many years with consistent input from St. Christopher House, were evident in these successful ventures.

The Programs
Literacy and English as a Second Language (ESL)

One can see a community of women isolated in their own community, cut off from the outside world by a lack of education, confused by a country whose rules and values they do not understand, and pressed to find employment to cover family expenses.  Transition into Canadian life is a major problem, and Canada has done little to ease that transition.91
The growing emphasis on community development evident in all areas of the House’s work by the 1970’s, shaped the development of programs for immigrant women and for illiterate adults over the last fifteen years.  In 1974, the Portuguese West of Bathurst Project (PISEM) was initiated out of the experience of several workers serving as interpreters for Portuguese-speaking immigrants.  These staff had become aware that his kind of direct service provided only short-term solutions and did little to tackle the basic problems of isolation due to cultural roles and language barriers, and a lack of information about community resources.  PISEM staff and volunteers bean meeting with immigrant women individually in their own homes, then in small groups and only much later in larger groups outside the home. PISEM staff and volunteers also offered their expertise to local schools, where meetings were held to foster better understanding between teachers and Portuguese parents.  English classes were established in classrooms and workplaces, as well as in the homes of immigrant women, and workshops on relevant topics were held in the community.  The staff worked out of a house on Dovercourt Road, and later moved to Bathurst Street.


By the end of the three-year pilot project, the staff of PISEM (which changed its name to Services to Adults in 1977) had recognized that low-income illiterate adults shared many of the same problems as immigrants.  The Literacy Working Group was formed, composed of staff from a number of voluntary agencies and educational organizations.  “All were committed to community development as a long-term, educational process rather than a short-term issue-organizing process.”92  Committees of the exploration, research and production of new learning materials, audio-visual backup, teacher training, and the development of new approaches to adult education.  Curriculum materials were designed to help participants develop into critical and independent thinkers learning how to exercise control over their own situation.93  Volunteer tutors were trained to work with groups of illiterate adults, who by 1983 were producing their own newsletter, “Writers Ink.”


In 1978, members of the English for the Unemployed Class of St. Christopher House made a film entitled “My Pay Is Wrong.”  It was the highlight of a Teaching ESL Conference held that fall in Toronto.  Staff also produced a slide-tape show on literacy materials; it was used by more than fifty groups in 1978.  The pioneering work done by St. Christopher House did not go unnoticed.  In 1978, the Quebec Ministry of Education invited staff from the House to present workshops to Quebec literacy teachers.  Staff were also invited to address representatives of government, business, the community and labour at a Vancouver conference on English in the Workplace.

Cleaners Action

The goal of our work is to help cleaners and workers in general to have more say about what happens to their lives in Canada.  We do this through education (like English classes or Cleaners Action workshops), organizing, research and publicity.94
Cleaners Action was established in the mid 70’s as a resource to immigrant women, mostly Portuguese and Spanish speaking, who work as downtown office cleaners.  In addition to the cleaning jobs, these women generally carried full responsibility for home and children, and many also worked as daytime domestics.  Many of the women somehow found time to study English in classes run by St. Christopher House in the workplace and in local libraries.  Some were also involved in the production of Cleaners Action, a newsletter published in Portuguese, Spanish and English that since 1978 has been distributed to hundred of office cleaners in downtown Toronto.  This newsletter and occasional workshops inform workers of safety standards, employment practices, workers’ rights and educational programs, and have provided a forum for the sharing of common problems and solutions.


Although the Adult Services Unit has focused on collective problem solving in recent years, it has provided direct service in those instances when no other agency has responded to a definite community need.  For example, a weekly Women’s Support Group was established to offer Portuguese women experiencing marital difficulties to explore such issues as childcare, marital separation, health questions and legal concerns.  St. Christopher House is a founding member of the Immigrant Women’s Shelter Task Force, which has been working to establish an emergency shelter and resource centre for battered immigrant women.  A community-wide workshop on family violence was organized in 1983.


Supporting self-help efforts, has, however remained a paramount concern of the department.

Whether we are doing something as simple as having a birthday party or as complicated as analyzing a Union Contract… we are learning to value each other’s information, to share ideas, prioritize issues and take common steps toward action.95
Sistering

It’s hard for the average Metro resident to imagine the plight of the destitute woman.  Alone, unhappy, confused, she lives on the streets … for many of these women, a recently opened drop-in centre for female transients – called Sistering – has become a haven of warmth, understanding and companionship… It is an oasis of advice and support.96
Sistering was developed in 1981 with the support of several community agencies as a response to the needs of homeless women.  Fifteen to twenty-five women, aged thirteen to seventy-two, visited the program each day that first year; hey came for information, advice, conversation, friendship and shelter.  Located in Scadding Court Community Centre, Sistering was initially sponsored by St. Christopher House.  In 1983 it was incorporated as a separate organization.

Programs for Older Adults

The Older Adult Centre


In the 1960’s, St. Christopher House offered only two half-day programs per week, plus occasional special activities, for older adults.  Twenty years later, almost five hundred members, most of them over seventy years of age, were involved in activities offered five days a week at the Older Adult Centre on Queen Street.


Several factors contributed to this expansion.  The program was granted Elderly Persons Centre status by the Ontario ministry of Community and Social Services in 1971, thus making it eligible for more financial support, such as the Special Program Grant for a creative arts program that the Centre received from the same Ministry in 1973.  The move to Queen Street United Church provided sufficient space to expand the program to a five-day a week drop-in centre.  Bilingual outreach workers were hired to contact seniors in the neighbourhood, and by 1975 the range of activities was expanded to include painting, crafts, bowling, films and a Diners Club.  Between 1973 and 1975, a membership in the Older Adult Centre increased from 50 to 250 older adults.


By 1978, English, Orientation and Citizenship classes had been added to help older Portuguese immigrants adjust to city life.  Interpreting, information and referral services, health education, counseling, a fitness program, shopping trips, the foot care clinic and a free income tax service had also become important components of the program.  Regular visits by children in the Nursery School kept everyone feeling young.


Throughout the 1970’s, there was increased emphasis on member participation, responsibility and control of the program, beginning with the establishment in 1973 of a Member Executive and monthly memberships meetings.  The following year, members of the centre joined other Metro senior citizens in a march on Queen’s Park, where a brief was presented outlining the need for increased programs and services for Ontario’s older adults.


The extensive renovation of Older Adult Centre at Queen Street united Church, completed in 1981, was financed by the Provincial Government, the United Church and other donors and foundations.  In 1980, as part of the Bell Canada’s Centennial, fifty employees of that company volunteered time to replace the gym floor of the Centre.  An unfortunate fire in 1982 caused $100,000 damage to the Older Adult Centre, but within four months the building was once again operational.

Home Support Services


Early in 1965, Dr. and Mrs. K. Martin approached the director of St. Christopher House with their concerns for the aged and homebound.  Mrs. Martin worked on the development of a Meals on Wheels program in Britain during the war, and was interested in initiating such a program in Toronto.  That spring, the St. Christopher House Board established a Meals on Wheels Committee with representatives of social agencies, the Public Health Department, the Social Planning Council and concerned citizens.  All were aware that there were hundreds and likely thousands of homebound adults and seniors in the area who lacked nutritious meals.  Committee members visited a Red Cross project in Brantford, and obtained information from Vancouver, Britain and Australia as the laid plans to establish Toronto’s first Meals on Wheels program.  Under the table leadership of Board President Margaret Moore, support for the program grew, and the Laidlaw Foundation agreed to fund Meals on Wheels as a three-year pilot project, beginning in 1965.  Eight different women’s organizations, including United Church Women, Catholic Women’s League, B’nai B’rith, Junior League, Anglican and Unitarian women’s groups – three hundred volunteers in all – provided cars, drivers and deliverers.  The meals were prepared first by the students in the Food Services Department of the nearby Provincial Institute of Trades (which became George Brown College in 1968) Payment was based on ability to pay, with some full subsidies.


Within three years of the program being established at St. Christopher House, there were nine voluntary agencies operating similar services; by 1985 Metro had thirty Meals on Wheels programs.  Ongoing funding for the program proved problematic, but with the Provincial grants, donations from individuals, churches and service clubs and the tremendous voluntary contributions of time, energy and cars, the program has been able to expand in response to growing community need.  By 1983, one hundred meals were being delivered each day, providing the nourishment of good food and social contact.  In 1980, a Home Help program was instituted by St. Christopher House to provide additional support to elderly and disabled persons who were unable to manage their own housekeeping tasks but who otherwise did not need or want institutional care.  Home helpers were hired to do banking, shopping, cleaning and laundry, and volunteers were recruited to pay social visits to lonely shut-ins.  Most of the Home Support clients are over seventy years of age and live on small pensions in rooms or flats.  With no immediate family to care for them, they rely on the help provided by the staff and volunteers of St. Christopher House.

Programs for Children and Youth

Nursery School


Over they years the St. Christopher House Nursery School has given hundreds of children a head start in social development and academic education before they reach the formal school system.  Music, science, art, language, physical activities and outings have formed the basis of the Nursery School program.  Enrolment, as high as one hundred in the mid sixties, declined to twenty-two in the early 1980’s due to the drop in the birth rate, Kindergarten for four to five year olds, and financial restraints.  In 1978, the section of the Nursery School located at Kensington Public School closed.  The Carr Street nursery program moved first to Scadding Court Community Centre in 1979 and then to 84 Augusta where it was reduced to a half-day program.  Parent involvement continued; some worked as teacher assistants, some served on the Parents Committee which organized fundraising activities and published a monthly newsletter, others attended Parent Education classes.  In 1980, occupational and physiotherapy students from the University of Toronto initiated a gym program to assist the children in developing motor skills. Since 1965, when the Nursery School was accepted for City financing under the Day Nurseries Act, fee subsidies have been available for most of the children.  In the 1960’s, a home day care program was initiated by the House for thirty children not suitable or eligible for, or not able to get into, municipal day care centres.

Children and Youth


Children and youth living in West central Toronto have continued to rely on St. Christopher House for a variety of social and recreational activities.  They have taken swimming classes (at University Settlement until Scadding Court opened in 1979), learned gymnastics, joined basketball teams, and competed, quite successfully, in national lacrosse tournaments.  Children from St. Christopher House attended the United Church camp on Lake Scugog until the late 1960’s, when the camp was changed to serve only Church members.  Day camps were then extended by the House to provide summer activities, and in the 1980’s, St. Christopher House co-operated with St. Stephen’s Community House to offer a wilderness camping program.


Creative arts programming has received a great deal of attention at the House; children have experienced clay modeling, woodworking, painting, drama and dance in club groups and in summer arts programs.  In the early 1970’s, a group of children made puppets and performed original plays, and in 1973 members of the girls basketball tam screened an original design onto their team sweaters.  A drama group for children was restarted in 1979.  In the Spring of 1981 it was the only youth company in the Toronto Theatre Festival, performing “The Me Nobody Knows” before an audience of two thousand.  Working parents have greatly appreciated the after school and summer programming offered by the House.


Special problems facing children and youth have also been dealt with by St. Christopher House staff.  In the mid sixties, Canada’s first Head Start program was developed for “culturally deprived” five and six year olds hot lunch program was developed for undernourished children from low income families.  As part of the latter program, their mothers joined a Homemakers Clubs at the House.  The results were positive: the children’s health and school performance improved and the women enjoyed the social contact and gained practical knowledge.


In the late 1950’s, the House engaged in a three-year study of school dropouts.  Staff became aware of the need for early identification. Of youth who were experiencing boredom, dissatisfaction or problems with learning or authority at school, in order to prevent them from quitting school.  They also stressed the need for programs to assist those youth who were already out of school and who were now facing problems, particularly unemployment.  In the early 1960’s, the House provided “homework dens” and tutoring in addition to counseling and other youth programs, to help youth stay in school.


The area served by St. Christopher House was part of a larger area known as Number 1 Police District.  In 1964, that district was reported as having the highest crime rate in Metropolitan Toronto.  In a submission to the 1964 Select Committee on Youth, St. Christopher House spoke of the problems facing youth and their parents. Many immigrant children were in cultural conflict with their parents.  Others, from rural and small town Canadian backgrounds, were having difficulty adjusting to city life.  And children from poverty stricken families who had lived in the downtown area for many years were caught in a “subculture of hopelessness.”97  Marijuana smoking, Cutex sniffing, delinquency and prostitution were noted in the 1968 Annual Report as common problems of teen club participants.  The House hired special youth workers to set up new clubs and to do street work to help combat the problems of gangs, prostitution and teenage pregnancy.


The St. Christopher House Steel Drum Band was another innovation during this time.  Steel drum music had originated in Trinidad in the 1940’s.  Tops of oil drums were skillfully processed to create musical instruments played with wooden sticks.  In the early 1960’s, a young Trinidadian named Joe Brown started using steel drum bands in New York City’s Lower East Side as a means of “drumming out delinquency.”  Brown came to Toronto in 1963, and was hired by St. Christopher House to work with black youth.  The steel drum band that was quickly formed was officially called the St. Christopher House Steel Drum Band, but its members insisted on calling themselves the Joe Brown Juniors after their much admired leader.  The band was soon in great demand, performing for outside groups two or three times per month by 1965.  The highlight was playing at the closing luncheon of the 1965 United Appeal Campaign before twelve hundred people in the Crystal Ballroom of the Royal York Hotel.  “They stole the show”, it was noted in that year’s Annual Report. (They also stole some silverware, later retrieved and returned by Joe Brown!)


By 1971, as many as 150 young people aged 15-25 years, 95% of whom were Black, were coming from all over Toronto to the Tuesday evening drop-in at St. Christopher House.  With already overcrowded facilities, this situation posed a dilemma for the House: should it continue to serve a Metro-wide population bounded by ethnic identity or should it retain its focus on the local geographic community?  By the fall of 1971, the decision was made to lay off one worker and serve only local youth on an integrated basis in existing programs.  A loan was given to a Black organization working on plans to develop a community centre for Metro’s Black population.

The 1980’s


Two new programs were developed in 1981.  A discussion group for children of separated parents provided children with the opportunity to talk about the changed in their families.  A teen mothers program was developed in response to the fact that 85-90% of teenage mothers were keeping their babies.  Members of this group enjoyed the social contact and the opportunity to discuss child development, finances and future goals.  The program as discontinued when Jessie’s, a centre for teenage mothers, opened on Bathurst Street in 1982.


Leadership training had long been an important part of youth programming at the House, but since the late 1970’s, the focus of youth services shifted even more from recreational programming to leadership and life skills development.  In May 1981, fifteen teens graduated from the first Teen Life Skills Program, where they had dealt with educational goals, sexuality, family relationships and jobs.  In 1983, the newly formed Special Projects Unit of the House worked with other community groups to study the issue of youth unemployment.  Two programs resulted.  In the Metro Job Youth Corps program, begun in 1983, unemployed youth gained work skills ad experience by working for non-profit organizations.  Painting, cleaning, typing, filing and similar tasks were completed by the young workers, who were also given counseling and life skills training.  The MicroCHIP program offered youth training and experience in small business computer services, bookkeeping and accounting.  This program was initiated with St. Christopher House support, but later was incorporated as a separate organization.

The Music School

The Music School has found that children who study music seriously tend to do better in school, perhaps because of the self-discipline and concentration which the study of music develops. This influence is particularly important in a community where a large number of young people drop out of school at an early age.98
Under the direction of Mary Paton Leggatt, who has headed the School since 1951, the Music School continued to expand.  By 1967, there were more than two hundred pupils studying piano, guitar, violin, recorder, folk dancing, ballet and singing.  The House joined the National Guild of Community Schools for the Arts, and in the 1960’s Leggatt conducted a curriculum study that took her to various American music schools, resulting in the development of a new musicianship program at the House.  In 1970, the Nursery School and the Music School co-operated to initiate the teaching of violin to pre-schoolers, and in 1978, Suzuki violin classes form the Toronto Arts Council enabled the School to organize a children’s orchestra that entertained many at local neighbourhood festivals, schools and senior’s residences.


In 1978, the Music School director played an important role in co-coordinating the efforts of thirteen local school for a Children’s Festival of the Arts, held in Alexandra Park.  A new choir made its debut at the 1983 Community Family Christmas Party, and a program for four to seven your olds, Introduction to Music, began in 1984.  By the 1980’s, the Music School students were regular participants in the Baldwin Piano Festival, the Kiwanis Music School Festival, the CNE Music Festival, the Contemporary Showcase and the Toronto Royal Conservatory examinations.  A day camp at Cedar Glen Conference Centre has given the Music School students several weeks of music, art, dance, and drama each summer.


In 1980, the St. Christopher House Music School celebrated its fiftieth anniversary with a party that brought together founders, former teachers and students, and friends of the Music School.  The celebration coincided with a fundraising effort to expand the Bursary Fund.  Under the leadership of Florence Philpott, $34,000 was raised through bursaries honouring members of St. Christopher House – Marion Yeigh, Lally Fleming, Maude McCleod, Beatrice Wilson and Jean Palmer.  When the School opened in1930, the fees were 10-15 cents per lesson, an amount many parents could not afford.  Fifty years later, with fees at $3.50 per lesson, parents faced the same problem; they could afford to pay on average only $1.25 per lesson.  Private donations and government funds enable the School to subsidize fees for low-income families.  Support comes from the United Way, the Toronto and Ontario Arts Councils, the concerts organized by the Music School Committee and the Parents Committee.

Volunteers

From first hand relationships with people, [volunteers] gain a better understanding of the problems of poverty, newcomers, overcrowding, dilapidated housing, unemployment and many other social problems so obvious in the downtown area.  It helps them develop a social conscience.  It creates a desire to serve others.  It makes one more tolerant and understanding. In short, it helps make better people.99
Volunteers have always played a critical role at St. Christopher House.  There have been thousands over the years.  Some stayed for many years, like the school teacher who gave up one month of her school holidays for over forty years to work at Camp St. Christopher of the man who year after year directed a Minstrel Show.  Innumerable other have taught English, woodworking and art, assisted in the Nursery School, served on the Board and Committees, and worked on special events.  These volunteers have contributed their time and their talent; others have made material donations, contributing to Music School Bursaries, purchasing tickets to fundraising events, donating program supplies and funding new programs.


The Women’s Auxiliary, which for so many years contributed time and money to the House, disbanded in 1971 due to a decline in membership.  The money on hand – two thousand dollars- was put in trust to pay for furnishings for the proposed new House.

In the House


This growing partnership with the community during the 1960’s and 1970’s coincided with the house’s re-examination of internal policies and practices.  In 1969, community members sat on the Board for the first time, and a rotation system for Board members was introduced.  A Membership Council was formed to give program participants representation on the Program Committee, and local residents sat on hiring committees for staff positions available at the House.  A new membership policy introduced in 1975 broadened voting status to active residents and staff members, and it was decided that one-third of the Board and one-half of the total full and part-time staff were to be area residents.


Jean Palmer had been the Executive Director during all these new developments of the 1970’s. She retired in August 1980.

Jean guided the House through some significant changes, taking us from old buildings to new, from one location to several, from traditional Board structures to those involving the community, from historic ideas of social service to programs meeting contemporary needs.  Through the decentralization of House activities into local schools, libraries, churches and other community facilities, and through a distinct change in philosophy, the House has become a partner with its community and neighbours…100
The 1980’s: St. Christopher House Moves Again


The building at 84 Augusta Avenue had always been viewed as a somewhat temporary location, and by 1980 there was once again talk of relocation.  In July of that year, the newly appointed Executive Director, Paul Zarnke, proposed that a three to five year plan for the agency be developed.  He saw a need for the House to review changes in the neighbourhood, future funding trends, and the co-ordination of existing services.  A Long Range Planning process was initiated and an extensive Community Needs Profile was conducted jointly with University Settlement and St. Stephen’s Community House.


A number of important findings emerged.  The neighbourhood was changing.  Renovations meant that less affordable housing was available and there was a significant decline in the number of children in the area.  The neighbourhood had become more stable.  It was losing its role as a first home for new immigrants as more and more were locating in areas north of highway 401.  But it was a healthy community.  There was a high level of resident participation  in issues, many opportunities for democratic participation and a strong sense of community belonging and pride.101  Twenty years of community development work by St. Christopher House and other local groups had obviously paid off.


Funding restraints were having a serious effect on the House, particularly since the late 70’s.  Several factors contributed to this problem.  Between 1976 and 1982, the number of community centres in the neighbourhood had risen from three to six, giving the area the highest ratio of centres to citizens in all of Metro Toronto.  This resulted in the centres having to compete for limited funds at the expense of the new centres.  This meant that by its very presence, the House was frustrating the growth and development of Scadding Court and Alexandra Community Centres, thereby defeating its own stated goals.  At the same time, the United Way was reducing its annual increases in allocations to downtown centres, and grants from the Ministry of Culture and Recreation had declined dramatically.  The release of the Social Planning Council reports on suburban services resulted in political pressure being put on funding sources to redistribute money away from the downtown core.102

So serious were these financial constraints that work on Long Range Planning had to be temporarily halted in the summer of 1981 to deal with a 1982 projected deficit of $89,000.  Programming was subsequently curtailed, staff duties were reorganized, and positions of staff on maternity and sick leave were left unfilled.  The resulting instability and concern over job security led to the unionization of the staff of St. Christopher House in the fall of 1981, the third  Toronto settlement house to be certified in two years.  The St. Christopher House local joined with that of St. Stephen’s Community House to form Local 2289 of the Canadian Union of Public Employees, and the first contract was signed in August 1982.  Although flexibility in staffing was somewhat reduced by the contract, lines of authority and responsibility were clarified, job descriptions and working conditions were clearly spelled out, and layoff procedures were made clear.


Once the funding crisis had been dealt with, the Board was free once again to turn its attention to the issues raised by the Long Range Planning Committee, and in 1982 the Board of Directors decided that St. Christopher House should indeed relocate.  Scadding Court and Alexandra Park Community Centres were successfully developing programs, and two-thirds of St. Christopher House staff were already working outside the neighbourhood.  The Board concluded that the services offered by the House were much more urgently needed west of Bathurst Street, where there was a high concentration of Portuguese speaking residents, few available services, and a less well developed sense of community.  A five-year relocation strategy was developed to ensure a smooth transfer of programs and services.  A Withdrawal Committee was set up to work with the agencies, residents and program users in the Alexandra Park area to facilitate inter-agency planning and cooperation.  The Committee organized a public forum in February 1984 to share the House’s plans with the community and to discuss which programs residents wanted to see continued once the House moved.  The Relocation Committee researched the new neighbourhood, meeting with residents and agency representatives, conducting demographic analyses, locating potential sites, and proposing models for the structure of the new St. Christopher House.


At the March 1984 Board Meeting, it was decided that the relocated House would include two small neighbourhood houses and a larger facility for central administration and specialized program space.  The neighbourhood houses, with two or three staff each, would provide meeting space and staff support to community groups in their efforts to develop needed services and programs.  The move would be gradual.  Staff currently located at 84 Augusta would move to the Older Adult Centre on Queen Street in 1985.  By the time the lease there expires in 1987, all three locations making up the new House will be operational.  Programming in the new neighbourhood began in the summer of 1984 with a busy day camp program for school age children.  At the request of parents and agency staff in the area, plans were soon underway to develop after-four programs.


By late 1984, it became clear that the House could afford to open only one neighbourhood house and a central facility.  The Board deferred planning for a second house until the other two facilities were in operation.  In early 1985, the 84 Augusta Avenue building was sold by the property corporation; the funds generated were used to purchase a house at 53 Argyle Street.  The Older Adult Centre on Queen Street was renovated to accommodate the administrative offices until a new central facility could be developed.  Another period of significant change had began at St. Christopher House.

ST. CHRISTOPHER HOUSE 1912-1984 – CONCLUSION

How do you promote tolerance, understanding, self-reliance, family love, citizenship, local pride, leadership – you name it – in a part of the city disorganized by unemployment, poverty tension and loneliness?  No one organization can provide the answers – but the Neighbourhood House by pushing out its walls and melting into the district can do a great many things, one of which is to keep aware of all the problems.  That is why the Neighbourhood House has been called the General Practitioner is a social work world of specialists.103
As “General Practitioner”, St. Christopher House ha splayed an important role not only in the downtown community where it has been located for almost seventy-five years, but also in the development of social services in the City of Toronto.  Many of the programs developed by the House to assist its neighbours – the Play School, the Well Baby Clinic, household science classes, community nursing, after-hours programs in public schools, Junior Kindergarten, Meals on Wheels, literacy and ESL programs, community development projects – were taken over or extended by public and private organizations once their effectiveness had been proven.  This willingness by staff and Board to test the new program ideas and methods of work has kept St. Christopher House flexible and responsive to the community it serves and has made it an asset to the social service field.


Many changes and challenges have faced the House over the years.  The Church has changed from patron and benefactor, to partner, and finally to the position of being only one of many donors and colleagues of the House.  Wealthy patrons like Sir James Woods have been replaced with United Way funds, government grants, foundations and fundraising events.  Volunteerism, while still critical to the work of the House, has felt the impact of professionalism.  Building-centred programming was replaced by decentralization, and programming itself took on a new focus as community development concepts and practices were explored and integrated into the work of the House.  Goals of empowerment and self-determination have long replaced the initial intentions of the House – to Canadianize and to Christianize.  Through all these changes, St. Christopher House’s strong connection to its community and to the needs of immigrants has been consistently evident.


New challenges – perhaps the greatest yet – face St. Christopher House in the 1980’s, as it plans and implements the relocation to another community.  Staff, volunteers, and Board members will take with them to this new neighbourhood a history of creative programming, responsiveness to local concerns, and a strong sense of social justice.

This is an exciting time for the House.  Perhaps Sir James Woods felt like we do now when he opened the doors of St. Christopher House at 67 Wales for the first time.  We see the need and we have confidence in our ability to meet the challenge.104
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